
MINUTES OF THE PLAN COMMISSION 
May 24, 2010 

 
 
The regular meeting of the Plan Commission was called to order by Chairman Mark Moore at 7:03 
p.m. at the Village Hall. 
 
Members present:  Chairman Mark Moore, Scott Adams, William Cotey, Robert Guarnaccio, Walter 
Oakley, and Andy Robinson. 
 
Members absent:  None. 
 
A quorum was established. 
 
Village Staff present:  John Spoden, Director of Community Development; and David Smith, Senior 
Planner. 
 
Commissioner Robinson moved, seconded by Commissioner Cotey, to approve the April 26, 2010, 
Plan Commission meeting minutes. 
 
Motion carried 6 - 0. 
 
OLD BUSINESS: None. 
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
 
PC 10-19 Village of Libertyville, Applicant 
  118 West Cook Avenue 
 

Request is for a Text Amendment to Section 2 and 11 of the Libertyville Zoning Code 
relating to Electronic Message Board Signs. 

 
Mr. John Spoden, Director of Community Development, introduced the proposed Zoning Code Text 
Amendment.  Mr. Spoden stated that there is currently a moratorium on permitting Electronic 
Message Board (EMB) signs in the Village of Libertyville until the Zoning Code can be amended to 
address the proper regulation of EMB’s.  Mr. Spoden described the history regarding the recently 
installed freestanding EMB sign at the Tranel Financial Group property located at 1509 North 
Milwaukee Avenue.  He stated that the Tranel Financial Group concluded a court settlement that 
permitted them to install a freestanding EMB on their property along Milwaukee Avenue.  He stated 
that a substantial amount of the design criteria agreed upon for the Tranel sign is incorporated into 
the proposed Zoning Code text amendment. 
 
Mr. Spoden stated that the text amendment will permit EMB’s as Special Use Permits within a 
certain overlay district.  He stated that the proposed overlay district encompasses parcels along 
Peterson Road and Route 45 and that EMB’s with Special Use Permits would be allowed on lots at 
least 200 feet wide and a minimum of two (2) acres of lot area. 



Minutes of the May 24, 2010, Plan Commission Meeting 
Page 2 of 5 
 
Mr. Spoden stated that there are currently five (5) EMB’s in the Village that were obtained with 
variations.  He stated that the intent of the proposed amendment is to restrict EMB’s from 
Milwaukee Avenue so Staff studied portions of Peterson Road and Route 45 and determined that 
those areas were more appropriate than Milwaukee Avenue or Route 176.  He stated that at this time 
it is also the intent to avoid the auto dealers. 
 
Commissioner Robinson asked for clarification as to whether or not the proposed designated area for 
EMB’s includes multiple zoning districts. 
 
Mr. Spoden stated that the locations proposed to allow EMB’s as Special Permitted Uses is area 
specific which overlays multiple zoning districts. 
 
Mr. David Pardys, Village Attorney, stated that it is not uncommon to implement overlay districts as 
a zoning tool. 
 
Mr. Spoden stated that the EMB sign height, sign area, and setbacks from property lines shall be 
commensurate with the zoning district in which it is erected. 
 
Mr. Spoden presented the proposed design regulations for EMB’s including limits on brightness, 
timing, flash, image transitions and image static.  He stated that the proposal includes a requirement 
to incorporate Amber Alerts.  Mr. Spoden presented a photo image of an existing EMB erected on 
the College of Lake County property. 
 
Commissioner Oakley stated that he likes the proposal for the Zoning Code text amendment, but 
stated that the maximum sign area of 24 square feet is too small.  He stated that the maximum size 
allowed for sign area should be increased to 30 square feet. 
 
Commissioner Adams stated that he likes the public service announcement component to the text 
amendment.  He stated that he agrees with Commissioner Oakley that the sign area should be larger. 
 
Commissioner Cotey asked for clarification that the proposal allows the EMB’s to be double-sided.  
Mr. Spoden stated it was intended to allow double-sided EMB sign area. 
 
Commissioner Cotey asked why Staff did not include the auto dealer districts.  Mr. Spoden stated 
that the auto dealers were approached and that the response was that they were not ready to consider 
EMB’s on their facilities as of yet. 
 
Commissioner Guarnaccio stated that consideration should be given to including Route 176 and 
portions of Route 21.  He stated that the maximum size of the EMB sign area should be increased to 
32 square feet.  He stated that when considering limits on EMB sign height that the height is related 
to the topographical elevation height of the adjacent roadway crown in order to determine if there are 
any line of site obstructions. 
 



Minutes of the May 24, 2010, Plan Commission Meeting 
Page 3 of 5 
 
Mr. Spoden asked Commissioner Guarnaccio where along Route 176 it would be appropriate to erect 
EMB signs.  Commissioner Guarnaccio stated that east of Route 21 would be appropriate for EMB’s 
along Route 176. 
 
Commissioner Robinson stated that the overlay districts should be as inclusive as possible.  He stated 
that the maximum permitted sign size should go up to 32 square feet. 
 
Commissioner Guarnaccio asked how the school district was permitted their EMB.  Mr. Pardys 
stated that the State of Illinois is the permitting authority for building permits for public school 
districts.  He stated that the State statute is not as clear relative to zoning enforcement matters.   
 
Chairman Moore stated that he opposes EMB’s in the Village of Libertyville.  He stated that they 
detract from the community character.  He stated that they should be banned. 
 
Mr. Pardys stated that an outright ban may be questionable, but for being able to demonstrate that it 
truly detracts from the community character. 
 
Chairman Moore asked what other communities in the region regulate EMB’s.  Mr. Spoden stated 
that Highland Park, Lake Forest and others have EMB regulations. 
 
Chairman Moore stated that if the proposed overlay could be expanded anywhere that the only 
appropriate area would be on the south side of Route 137 and east of Route 21.  He stated that the 
sign area size should be kept at a minimum size. 
 
Mr. Jack Martin, 306 Peterson Road, stated that he represents the Peterson Road shop owners.  He 
stated that most of the businesses that belong in his commercial building along Peterson Road will 
not request to install EMB’s.  He stated that he disagrees with the minimum width of 200 feet for lots 
to qualify for EMB’s.  He stated that Austin’s Restaurant is on a lot that is only 189 feet wide and the 
proposal would then exclude them. 
 
Mr. Spoden stated that Austins could combine adjacent lots that he owns and create a Planned 
Development. 
 
Mr. Martin stated that a minimum width of 180 feet wide lots should be considered to allow EMB’s. 
 
Mr. Spoden stated that within the proposed overlay district there are between 50 and 60 lots.  He 
stated that he isn’t certain how many are at least 200 feet wide. 
 
Mr. Martin asked how many of the existing EMB’s in the Village are 32 square feet in sign area. 
 
Mr. Spoden stated that the Tranel Financial EMB sign area is approximately 32 square feet for the 
electronic portion, but that the whole sign area is approximately 100 square feet. 
 



Minutes of the May 24, 2010, Plan Commission Meeting 
Page 4 of 5 
 
Mr. Martin stated that when the first auto dealer gets an EMB, then all of the auto dealers will want 
an EMB.  He stated that the minimum lot width should be reduced to 170 feet and the maximum 
permitted sign size should be up to 36 square feet.  He agrees that future EMB’s should be required 
to convey Amber Alerts.  He stated that they should be allowed because the traffic does move fast 
along the thoroughfares in Libertyville.  He stated that he respects the Plan Commission Chairman’s 
opinion, but disagrees with it. 
 
Commissioner Cotey stated that the proposed amendment is written with very solid restrictions and 
this will be needed. 
 
Mr. Pardys stated that certain limits are acceptable.  He stated that there has been little case law 
established that supports a total ban on EMB’s.  He stated that sign regulations can be supported 
based upon time, place and manner. 
 
Commissioner Cotey asked if there are other communities that have instituted a total ban on EMB’s. 
Mr. Spoden stated that he is not certain at this time if there are other communities that have total ban 
on EMB’s, but Staff can research that issue. 
 
Commissioner Robinson stated that it would be difficult for him to support a total ban on EMB’s 
while there are existing EMB’s in the Village. 
 
Commissioner Cotey stated that they should address the auto dealers now. 
 
Mr. Spoden asked if a poll of the Zoning Board of Appeals should be taken prior to a formal 
recommendation regarding their preference for sign size, lot width, and lot area. 
 
Chairman Moore asked Mr. Martin what the size of his lots are that he owns along Peterson Road.  
Mr. Martin stated that his lots on the north side of Peterson Road are 450 feet deep and the lots on 
the south side of Peterson Road are 300 feet deep. 
 
Commissioner Guarnaccio stated that they should know the number of lots that would be affected by 
the proposed text amendment. 
 
All Commissioners stated that they support the proposed design criteria. 
 
Chairman Moore stated that this item should be continued so that more information can be obtained. 
 
Commissioner Robinson stated that the maximum sign size of 32 square feet makes more sense. 
 
Commissioner Guarnaccio stated that consideration should be given to narrowing the overlay district 
to the auto dealer properties and retail corridors. 
 
Commissioner Cotey stated that he likes the amendment as presented. 
 



Minutes of the May 24, 2010, Plan Commission Meeting 
Page 5 of 5 
 
Commissioner Guarnaccio stated that he prefers a 32 square foot sign area. 
 
Commissioner Cotey stated that he prefers a 24 square foot sign area. 
 
Commissioner Adams stated that he prefers a 24 square foot sign area. 
 
Commissioner Oakley stated that he prefers a 32 square foot sign area. 
 
Commissioner Guarnaccio stated that consideration should be given to measuring the height of the 
EMB from the crown of the adjacent roadway. 
 
In the matter of PC 10-19, Commissioner Guarnaccio moved, seconded by Commissioner Cotey, to 
Continue this request to the June 28, 2010 Plan Commission meeting. 
 
Motion carried 6 - 0. 
 
Ayes:  Moore, Adams, Cotey, Guarnaccio, Oakley, Robinson 
Nays:  None 
Absent: None 
 
COMMUNICATIONS AND DISCUSSION: 
 
Mr. John Spoden, Director of Community Development, announced that members of the Economic 
Development Commission shall attend the June 14, 2010 Plan Commission meeting to discuss EDC 
goals as it relates to the Comprehensive Plan update. 
 
Commissioner Robinson moved and Commissioner Cotey seconded a motion to adjourn. 
 
Motion carried 6 - 0. 
 
Meeting adjourned at 8:15 p.m. 


